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Department of Planning 
& Development Services 
TELEPHONE (905) 468-3266 
"FACSIMILE (905) 468-2959 

February 5, 1996 

Ontario Heritage Foundation 
1 O Adelaide Street East 
Toronto, Ontario, M5C 1J3 

REGISTERED MAIL 

RE: 247 RICARDO STREET & 66 KING STREET 

1593 CREEK ROAD 

P.O. Box 100 
VIRGIL, ONTARIO 

LOS lTO 

RECEIVED 
IN THE OFFICE 

FEB 91996 
CULTURAL PROGRAMS 

HERITAGE UNIT 

• 

NOTICE OF PASSING OF BY-LAWS NO. 2960-96 & 2961-96 
ONTARIO HERITAGE ACT, PART IV 

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 29 (6) (a) (ii) of the Ontario Heritage Act, R.S.0. 1990, 
Chapter 0.18, please find enclosed a copy of By-law No. 2960-96, being a by-law to designate 
247 Ricardo Street under Part IV of the Act and a copy of By-law No. 2961-96, being a by-law 
to designate 66 King Street under Part IV of the Act. 

Yours truly, 

Robert G. Howse 
Town Clerk 

R01: 247 Ricardo Street .. 

R01: 66 King Street 

First Capital of Upper Canada • 1 792 
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THE CORPORATION 

OF THE 

TOWN OF NIAGARA-ON-THE-LAKE 

NO. 2960-96 =- - >a;-==- - ~ - - = ~ -

(Roll #1-231} 

A BY-LAW to designate the property known municipally as 247 Ricardo 

Street, Niagara Waterworks and Electric Light Plant, in the Town of 

Niagara-on-the-Lake in the Province of Ontario as being of architectural 

and historical value and interest . 

WHEREAS Section 29 of the Ontario Heritage Act, R.S. 0. 1990, Chapter 0.18, 

authorizes the Council of a municipality to enact by-laws to designate real 

property, including all buildings and structures thereon, to be of architectural or 

historic value or interest; and 

WHEREAS the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake has 
- - - - - - ·-

caused to be served on the owners of the lands and premises known as Niagara 

Waterworks and Electric Light Plant at 247 Ricardo Street in the Town of 

Niagara-on-the-Lake in the Province of Ontario and upon the Ontario Heritage 

Foundation, notice of intention to so designate the aforesaid real property and 

has caused such notice of intention to be published in the same newspaper 

having general circulation in the municipality once for each of three consecutive 

weeks; and 

WHEREAS the reasons for designation are set out in Schedule 'B' hereto; and 

WHEREAS no notice of objection to the proposed designation has been served 

on the clerk of the municipality; 

- -

THEREFORE the Council of the Corporation of the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 

enacts as follows: 

1 . There is designated as being of architectural and historical value and 

interest the real property known as Niagara Waterworks and Electric Light 

Plant at 247 Ricardo Street in the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake in the 

Province of Ontario, more particularly described in Schedule 'A' hereto . 
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2. The municipal solicitor is hereby authorized to cause a copy of this By-law 

to be registered against the property described in Schedule 'A' hereto in 

the proper land registry office. 

· 3. The Cfe,;k Ts :hereby·autnofizeo tocaus·e··a·copyof this By-law to be served 

on the owners of the aforesaid property and on the Ontario Heritage 

Foundation and to cause notice of the passing of this By-law to be 

published in the same newspaper having general circulation in the 

municipality once for each of three consecutive weeks . 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

READ A FIRST, SECOND AND THIRD TIME AND PASSED ON THIS 29TH 

DAY OF JANUARY, 1996. 

' 

LORD MAYOR MICHAEL M. DIETSCH A TOWN CL RK R. G-:-HeWSE 
1-l ~ o l_.l..'ct. 
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SCHEDULE 'A' 

DESCRIPTION: 

Niagara Waterworks and Electric Light Plant 
-

247 ·Ricardo ·street, ·Niagara;.on.;th-e:;~ake 

Parcel 3-1 Section M-18 being Lot 3 on Plan M-18 in the Town of Niagara-on-the­

Lake, in the Regional Municipality of Niagara, registered in the Land Registry 

Office (No. 30) for the Land Titles Division of Niagara North at St. Catharines . 

• 
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SCHEDULE 'B' 

REASONS FOR DESIGNATION: 

Niagara Waterworks and Electric Light Plant 

~47 Ricardo $treet, Ni?gara-gn-th~Lake 

The Niagara Waterworks building, also known as the Pumphouse, is 

recommended for designation for architeqtural and historical reasons. An 

architectural by-product of the formative phase of Ontario's industrial history, it 

is a unique structure which combined water pumping, electricity generation and 

residential functions and is the Niagara Region's oldest surviving waterworks. 

Built in 1891 by the Town of Niagara, this red brick plant provided water and 

electricity for street and domestic lighting. It was used exclusively as a water 

pumping station from the early 1900s until 1983. The building consists of four 

sections: the filter room facing the Niagara River, the boiler room, the pump room 

and the operating engineer's residence at the south end. The complex was 

restored and converted to a visual art centre in 1994 . 

• 

The property is on the east side of the Collingwood Street road allowance at the 

corner of Ricardo Street and fronts on the Niagara River. The building sits close 

to the river with the main entrance facing the road allowance. Located at the 

eastern end of lands originally granted to the Niagara Harbour and Dock 

Company which was formed in 1831, the lot was part of a block purchased by 

Walter and Ann Meneilley in 1871 during the Dock Company land dispersal. The 

Town of Niagara bought the narrow parcel in 1891 and retained ownership until 

1969 when the Regional Municipality of Niagara assumed the property as part of 

Regional waterworks system. In 1986 the Town of Niagara-on-the-Lake 

purchased the site from the Region. 
• • 
• 

In the late 1880s, the Town of Niagara .Council initiated action to end its 

dependence upon wells and springs for water and upon local hotels for power 
' 

to operate street lights. Construction of the Niagara Waterworks and Electric 

Light Plant was completed in 1891 under the direction of Mayor Henry Paffard, 

the Town's consulting engineer John Galt and contractor J. H. Armstrong of 

Toronto. An example of the relatively early creation of a public utility for a 

municipality of the size of the Town of Niagara, the plant originally consisted of 

a river well, the main building and an enclosed settling bed. A hydro sub-station 

was built at the front of the lot in the early 1900s and wells and access holes of 

various sizes were located on site, most lined with concrete, some covered with 

simple wood frame sheds. New equipment was installed in the main building in 
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1916, when the large chimney stack adjacent to the boiler room was probably 

removed, as well as in 1920 and during World War II. John Brown Sr. (1891-

1910) was the first plant engineer and subsequent operators included:  

 (1905-1952),  (1908-1920),  (1927-1960) 1 

 (1939-1969)·1  (1-942-1962), ,  

 When the Town was 

connected to a new water supply line in 1983, the plant was decommissioned 

and the waterworks equipment was taken off-line. 

The main waterworks building is an example of the Queen Anne style 

characterized by a picturesque composition featuring variations in building 

volume, roof line and gable type and height. It ranges from one storey at the 

river end to 1 1/2 stories at the opposite end. Exterior features of this brick 

masonry structure with wood frame pitched roofs include: wood shingle roof; L­

shape north end with gable roof, ventilator and triangular dormer; side gable roof 

at centre; south end gable roof with hip dormer; typical red Ontario brick with 

··- common bond, encircling decorative string course of two corbelled courses 

typically at 2/3 of wall height that rises over door and window openings and by 
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· being absent only from the residential portion, differentiates it from the 

waterworks portion; recurring triadic groupings of windows ahd doors of 

proportionate shapes with differing combinations of flat and arched tops; paired 

timber doors with rectangular windows on either side at west wall of former boiler 

room; sidelights and arched transom at west entrance to former pump room; and 

rubblestone foundation. Over time, openings were blocked, added or moved, a 

kitchen and two porches were added and exterior features were removed 1 

including numerous original brick chimneys with decorative corbelling at the top 

and the tall boiler chimney stack as well as a porch and a door opening at the 

west elevation of the residential section which were likely not original. In 1993-

1994 the building exterior was restored, a one storey addition was constructed 

at the south-east corner and the interior was renovated. The work included: 

removal of additions; unblocking of openings; restoration of masonry and 
-

chimneys; restoration/repair of eaves, facia, soffit, mouldings, trim, doors and 

frames, the roof ventilator and window frames, sills and sash; installation of a new 

wood shingle roof, eavestrough and downpipes; new windows, transoms1 one 

door and sidelights and exterior painting. At the same time a gazebo was built 

over the river well near shore, other wells and access holes were removed, the 

electrical substation was demolished, the walls and roof of the settling shed were 

removed, leaving the foundation at mid-lot with the 1919 standby pump on 

display within1 a parking area was installed and the property was landscaped . 



• 
• 
' 
I 

.t 
•• 

• 

< 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

This designation applies to the lands and more particularly the entire exterior 

facade and the structure of the waterworks building. The 1993-1994 addition is 

not included in the designation . 

• 




